# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

05-13-2019

RECEIVED

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2018 AP 2318

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALAN M. JOHNSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

## DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF AND SHORT APPENDIX

Appeal from Entry of Judgement of Conviction, Honorable Kristine E. Drettwan Presiding, Walworth County Circuit Court Case No. 2016 CF 422

> ALAN M. JOHNSON, Defendant-Appellant

Stephen P. Hurley Wisconsin Bar No. 1015453 Jonas B. Bednarek Wisconsin Bar No. 1032034 Marcus J. Berghahn Wisconsin Bar No. 1026953

HURLEY BURISH, S.C. 33 E. Main Street Madison, WI 53703 (608) 257-0945

#

#### ISSUES

The Circuit Court's pretrial rulings limited Alan Johnson's presentation of evidence at trial. The limits imposed by the Court affected Johnson's rights to remain silent, to cross-examination, to confrontation, as well as his right to present a complete defense at trial.

The Circuit Court's pretrial rulings also limited Johnson's presentation of *McMorris* evidence, which would have informed the jury as to Johnson's state of mind at the time he allegedly committed the charged offenses.

Lastly, the Circuit Court, despite having elucidated an ample factual basis, did not instruct the jury on selfdefense and other offenses that Alan Johnson requested, thus limiting the jury's ability to reasonably analyze the evidence, while at the same time, giving the jury instruction that referenced self-defense but with no definition of it.

1. The Circuit Court's pretrial order (reinforced during trial) precluded Alan Johnson from raising any aspect of his claim of self-defense until after he testified at trial, and the Circuit Court determined that Johnson had met the evidentiary standard for such evidence. The pretrial order was clear insofar as it forced Alan Johnson to waive his right to remain silent and to testify, prior to a determination of whether evidence of self-defense could be presented to the jury.

[I]f the defendant shows a sufficient factual basis for self-defense and the only way this can be done—*the only way a sufficient factual basis for self-defense can be shown*  given these circumstances here is through the defendant's testimony. ... There is no other evidence to show a sufficient factual basis for self-defense but the defendant testifying. It's the only possible logical and legal conclusion that this Court can reach.

R229:6-7 (emphasis added).

2. Alan Johnson offered evidence that KM possessed child pornography at the time that Johnson searched his computer prior to their confrontation to explain his state of mind about why he entered the home and to corroborate his testimony. The Circuit Court ruled that whether there was child pornography located on KM's computer

> is not relevant. It's not relevant or admissible character trait of the victim and it's not relevant to establishing any fact that's of issue here. And even if it were, it would fail under 904.03. It would be completely and unfairly prejudicial with little to no probative value other than to try and paint the victim in a bad light, and it certainly would not substantially overthat unfair substantially outweigh prejudice. I also think it would cause undue delay in the trial and it would be very misleading to the jury. So there will be no evidence allowed about what, if anything, the defendant saw on the victim's computer that night and/or what the police found or did not find on the computer.

*Id.* at 13-15.

You can ask him why did you spend two whole hours on the computer because I'm assuming he will have already testified he went there to look for child pornography. His answer can be I went there to look for child pornography. There will be no evidence, however, about what if anything he found.

*Id.* at 18.

**3.** The Circuit Court having found a *prima facie* case for self-defense allowed the admission of evidence of self-defense and, nevertheless, refused to instruct the jury on self-defense.

Because an objective reasonable person would find that the victim had a lawful right to interfere with the defendant [...] I don't think an objective reasonable person would buy that... I don't think a jury would find that the state failed to meet its burden on that prong. The second prong is would the objective threshold of reasonably believing that the force the defendant used was necessary to prevent imminent death or great bodily harm. [...] So I don't think a jury would conclude that the state had failed to meet its burden to disprove that element either. So for those reasons I will not allow those instructions that deal with perfect selfdefense. I will allow as already noted the imperfect.

R239:50-52.

**4.** Johnson requested that the Circuit Court instruct the jury on charges other than first degree homicide or first degree reckless homicide. Despite having presented sufficient evidence that would support consideration of other charges, his request was denied.

I'm going to be giving lesser included here. The question is which ones I'm going to give and how they will be structured because there certainly is the standard for a lesser included offense is whether there is reasonable basis in the evidence for a jury to acquit on the greater offense and convict on a lesser. And given all of the facts obviously the jury will have to determine the credibility in which ones they find persuasive.

R239:7.

So I'm going to allow the lesser included of first degree reckless but that's as far as I'm letting it go because ... it's not reasonable. ... There is not a reasonable basis in this evidence for a jury to acquit on first degree intentional homicide and convict of second degree reckless. So obviously I'm not going to allow negligent homicide. ... By any stretch of the imagination a jury here – there is no reasonable basis in the evidence for a jury to acquit on one of these highers such as the first degree intentional and convict of negligent homicide here.

Id. at 35-38.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issues raised in this appeal can be fully addressed by briefing, but if the Court has questions, Alan Johnson welcomes the opportunity for oral argument. The decision of the Court should be published if the matter is decided by three judges, as is this Court's practice.

Ń

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

Usually, whether to admit or exclude evidence is within the trial court's discretion. State v. Richard G.B., 2003 WI App 13, ¶ 7, 259 Wis. 2d 730, 656 N.W.2d 469. But not all evidentiary rulings are discretionary. For example, if an evidentiary issue requires construction or application of a statute to a set of facts, a question of law is presented and then the review is de novo. State v. Jensen, 2007 WI App 256, ¶ 9, 306 Wis. 2d 572, 743 N.W.2d 468; Palisades Collection LLC v. Kalal, 2010 WI App 38, ¶ 14, 324 Wis. 2d 180, 189, 781 N.W.2d 503, 508. Further, whether a defendant was denied constitutional rights, such as the right to present a defense, through the exclusion of evidence is a question of constitutional fact, which is reviewed de novo. State v. St. George, 2002 WI 50, ¶ 16, 252 Wis. 2d 499, 643 N.W.2d 777.

Review of all other discretionary decisions of the trial court, as it relates to evidentiary decisions, is highly deferential. The question is not whether the reviewing court would have permitted the evidence to come in, but whether the trial court exercised its discretion in accordance with accepted legal standards and in accordance with the facts of record. McCleary v. State, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). Said another way: was appropriate discretion exercised? State v. Wollman, 86 Wis. 2d 459, 464, 273 N.W.2d 225 (1979). If there is a rational basis for a trial court's decision, the reviewing court will not find an erroneous exercise of discretion. State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, ¶ 43, 236 Wis. 2d 686, 613 But if the trial court fails to provide N.W.2d 629. reasoning for its evidentiary decision, then independent review of the record follows to determine whether the trial court properly exercised its discretion. Id. at 343, 340

N.W.2d 498; *Martindale v. Ripp*, 2001 WI 113, ¶¶ 28-29, 246 Wis. 2d 67, 86–87, 629 N.W.2d 698, 705–06.

A trial court has broad discretion in deciding whether to give a particular jury instruction, and the court must exercise its discretion to "fully and fairly inform the jury of the rules of law applicable to the case and to assist the jury in making a reasonable analysis of the evidence." *State v. Coleman,* 206 Wis. 2d 199, 212, 556 N.W.2d 701 (1996) (citation omitted). However, independent review of whether a jury instruction is appropriate is made applying the specific facts of a given case. *State v. Groth,* 2002 WI App 299, ¶ 8, 258 Wis. 2d 889, 655 N.W.2d 163, *overruled on other grounds by State v. Tiepelman,* 2006 WI 66, ¶ 31, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1.

2

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

*Nature of the Case.* This is an appeal from the judgment of conviction entered in Walworth County Circuit Court by the Honorable Kristine Drettwan, following a nine day jury trial. The jury returned a guilty verdict, finding Alan Johnson guilty of first degree reckless homicide, by use of a dangerous weapon. The jury acquitted on first degree intentional homicide and burglary. The Circuit Court adjudicated Alan Johnson guilty and sentenced him to a total sentence of 35 years (25 years initial confinement and 10 years extended supervision).

*Procedural Status.* Alan Johnson was charged with first degree intentional homicide after his uncle, KM, was found dead in his home in Whitewater, Wisconsin, on October 25, 2016. R1. Investigation led to Alan Johnson, who, during a meeting with investigators "stood up and said, 'Arrest me, I killed him.'" *Id.* 

Before trial, Johnson gave notice of other acts he intended to offer. R16. This meant that Johnson's defense was revealed before the State's case began. Having seen the defense, the State then tried to restrict it even before a witness was sworn. R25.

Despite making an offer of proof before trial, R47, the Circuit Court ruled that Johnson was barred from questioning witnesses on the subject of self-defense until after (and only after) Johnson testified and the Circuit Court determined that he had made a sufficient showing of self-defense. R229. Too, the Circuit Court barred Johnson from presenting *McMorris* evidence to explain his state of mind, including evidence that, shortly before the confrontation between KM and Johnson, Johnson had found the evidence of child pornography on KM's computer that he had been searching for.<sup>1</sup> *Id.* 

The evidence played-out over the course of a nine day jury trial, at which Johnson testified.

The Circuit Court instructed the jury on armed burglary, first degree intentional homicide, second degree homicide and first degree reckless homicide, which referenced self-defense. R102. But the Court did not instruct on or define self-defense. *Id.* The jury convicted Johnson only of first degree reckless homicide. R180.

*Facts.* When finally permitted by the court, Alan Johnson's testimony at trial established that he was the third of four children born to Eric and Cathy Johnson. R236:175. He had two older sisters: Christine and Kim. Kim was eleven years older than Alan Johnson. *Id.* at 176. She was married to KM. He also had a younger sister, Nicole. She was married and had a young daughter. Alan did not have a good relationship with his father. *Id.* Eric Johnson was described as physically and emotionally abusive, R236:200, a view shared by Alan's siblings. R238:97-99.

After graduating from high school, Alan Johnson attended the University of Wisconsin Madison. He graduated in five years with degrees in mathematics and computer science. R236:180.

Alan Johnson met KM for the first time when he was about seven or eight years old. From early on he feared KM. R236:197-98. Basically for his entire life. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See McMorris v. State, 58 Wis. 2d 144, 205 N.W.2d 559 (1973).

"Growing up he was a bully." *Id.* at 198. He described a number of incidents involving KM. In one, KM grabbed Alan, "My back was to his front and he had his arm around me and he held me there with his arm around my torso and then he reached down my pants." *Id.* KM placed his hand into his underwear. "I was completely powerless. Like I couldn't—couldn't do anything. I was afraid to tell anyone. I—I was, like, I was ashamed of it." *Id.* at 200.

In another incident, KM struck Alan Johnson in the chest while Johnson was in the back seat of a car.

> I remember we were on Highway 59, headed in that direction from Whitewater, and I was sitting in the back seat. And I don't know why we weren't—nobody was saying anything, there was no argument, no nothing. And [KM] was in the front passenger seat, and he just he turned around and he slammed me right-square in the chest with his fist and I didn't know why, and he just laughed. And then he just turned around like nothing happened.

*Id.* at 202.

Johnson also described that KM came up behind him and pressed his temples between his hands. *Id.* at 203. KM would squeeze Johnson's head "like a vice and he'd just hold me there until he let me go." It was painful. *Id.* Johnson felt that he could not say anything. *Id.* at 203-04. Another event occurred in the kitchen. I was standing in the kitchen at the counter and he came up behind me and he put his arm around my throat and he pulled my wind pipe shut and he turned me around and shoved me right to Kimberly who was in the kitchen too and he started laughing. And he'd just hold me there. And Kim was just staring at me wide eyed.

*Id.* at 204. "And he just kept holding me there and I felt like I was getting close to passing out and then he let me go." *Id.* KM also verbally abused Alan Johnson. *Id.* at 204.

He was really condescending. You know, some of it seemed innocuous at first. You know, he'd call you a slacker or he'd say that you're dumb or what you're doing is dumb or he'd—you know, you'd be working on something and he'd dismiss it as like, oh, I can't believe, you know, that that's your level of understanding, that's all you know. You know, oh, I learned that when I was so young and it's no problem for me.

Alan's sister, Christina, corroborated Alan's perception about KM. R238:107. "[H]e was a violent person." "I think he caused other people to fear him." "I think [KM] was a bully." *Id.* She knew that other members of her family feared KM. *Id.* at 109. This included Nicole and their mother. *Id.* 

Nicole, Alan's younger sister, confirmed that KM choked her. *Id.* at 150. "He choked me until I blacked out." *Id.* She was about fourteen years old at the time. *Id.* at 151. "Every time I walked past him he would either poke at me or grab at me or pull me into his lap. He would sit next to me on the couch and then rest his head on my chest. He would wrestle with me to the ground and not let me up. He would pull me onto the couch and basically be on top of me and not let me up." *Id.* Nicole offered opinion testimony that KM was a violent man, that he was a bully, and that he had a quality for making people fear him. *Id.* at 153. Nicole was afraid of KM. *Id.* Nicole also offered testimony that Alan was not a violent person, and that Alan was a passive person who avoids confrontation and conflict. *Id.* 

Kim (Alan's sister and KM's wife), asked for Alan's assistance, because of his skill with computers. Kim told Alan that she had downloaded a file, but she couldn't figure out to where it had been saved. Alan tried to find the lost document. In searching through her computer Alan discovered a cache of child pornography. *Id.* at 211. He did not expect to find images of "Young girls. There's one—it was nude young girls—but there was one in particular that – that I noticed." Id. at 212. "It was – it was an adult man, he was naked, and he was having sex with a girl who looked like she was in elementary school. They were both naked." *Id.* This wasn't the only image he found. Id. Alan "saw a screen full of thumbnails. It was probably around a dozen," but he quit looking at the Id. He told Kim what he computer at that point. observed. Id. at 209. Knowledge of what he observed on KM's computer weighed heavily on Alan.

After graduating from college, Alan left for a job in New York City. R236:184. While the work was interesting and challenging, he did not enjoy the work environment or the location. *Id.* He returned home, and began to care

for his parents who were now elderly. *Id.* at 218. His dad had been injured in a tree cutting accident that affected his memory, and his mother was hospitalized for hip replacement surgery. *Id.* at 219. He became their caretaker. *Id.* He shopped, cooked, cleaned and maintained their home. Alan also took on a similar role for his sister, Christine, following the death of her husband. *Id.* at 220. Over time, Alan testified, the work took an emotional toll. *Id.* at 226. "I was completely overwhelmed and I knew I couldn't keep going. I couldn't keep it up." *Id.* 

Alan was also concerned about Nicole's daughter, who had reached the age that Nicole was when he'd seen her abused by KM, and which was also the same age as girls he had seen in the pornography on KM's computer.

Alan sent an email to the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children about the images he'd found on KM's computer. *Id.* at 227. But Alan was concerned that if he "handed it off to local law enforcement, [and] that KM would potentially get tipped off because I knew he had at least one friend on the Whitewater police department." *Id.* Alan was contacted by police. *Id.* at 229. But Alan was told that nothing could be done, the information was too old. The investigator told Alan that, if he had any further information, he should let him know. *Id.*; R238:54

Alan shared the information with his father. Eric Johnson was upset when he learned that KM possessed child pornography. Eric spoke to KM about this, and Eric reported to Alan that KM claimed to have moved the files. R236:236. Eric continued to have discussions with KM over the course of several months.

The police said they couldn't do anything about it and my dad confronted him about it directly. He met him in person and talked to him about it and, you know, told him you can't come around the family anymore because of it. And my dad tried to work with him to get help and nothing was happening. And I was still the only one who had seen it and knew about it. I told my dad about it but I'm the only one who knew firsthand about it.

*Id.* at 237.

Because KM was not getting therapy or addressing his problem, Alan decided he needed to obtain fresh evidence so that the police would investigate and, then, prosecute KM. *Id.* at 247. If he found such evidence "they would have what they need and I wouldn't be involved anymore. They would just—they could take care of it." *Id.* 

Alan decided to go to KM's house to search his computer. Before leaving home, he took one of his father's handguns. *Id.* at 254. "I felt like if I went over there without it I wouldn't be able to go in there. I wouldn't be able to, you know, go looking for his equipment because if he saw me he would know why I was there and he'd go after me." *Id.* He did not take the handgun to kill Ken. "I felt—not safe with it but like I—I could at least go in there." *Id.* Alan drove his father's truck to KM's house in Whitewater. *Id.* at 255. He brought along some gloves, but not because he was "worried about fingerprints." *Id.* at 259. He didn't want

static electricity to damage any computer files. *Id.* Alan examined the computer. *Id.* at 260.

I sat down and I touched the computer mouse just to see what was on the screen and it was already logged in. I didn't have to type in a password or anything.

*Id.* at 260.

Alan then searched for "typical file format for photographic images." *Id.* at 261. He sat at the computer for about two and one half hours. *Id.* at 263.

On direct examination, Alan was not allowed to testify about the specifics about what he observed on KM's computer. The following offer of proof was made about what Johnson observed on the computer.

> [...] Alan Johnson would have testified that when he viewed the computer he viewed images of naked underage girls, that there were many, many such images. That, additionally, he saw that there were over 5,000 files of images of neighborhood children, all girls, most of which were girls walking past 911 Peck Street. Most of the images focused on their back sides, many of the images focused on their crotches. Some of the images were taken from what appeared to be [KM]'s automobile and occurred in other parts of town. I have submitted to the Court Exhibits 106, 107, 108, 109 and 105. Alan Johnson would have testified that he saw that the photographs of

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