# RECEIVED

### STATE OF WISCONSIN **09-03-2019**

## COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

## DISTRICT II

Case No. 2018AP2318-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALAN M. JOHNSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN WALWORTH COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE KRISTINE E. DRETTWAN, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

HANNAH S. JURSS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081221

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 264-9444 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) jursshs@doj.state.wi.us

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

"Admissibility is not automatic." State v. Head, 2002 WI 99, ¶ 128, 255 Wis. 2d 194, 648 N.W.2d 413. "McMorris evidence may not be used to support an inference about the victim's actual conduct during the incident." Id. If the court deems the evidence relevant, it should apply the Wis. Stat. § 904.03 balancing test, as it would to "any other relevant evidence." Id. ¶ 129. This determination lies within the circuit court's discretion. Id.

Wisconsin Statute § 906.11(1) also gives the circuit court discretion over the "mode and order of interrogating witnesses and presenting evidence."

Self-defense standards. Two types of self-defense justifications exist in Wisconsin law: (1) the use of necessary force, called "perfect self-defense," and (2) the use of unnecessary force, called "imperfect self-defense." *Head*, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 45.

A defendant is entitled to an imperfect self-defense instruction if there is "some evidence" to show he held a subjective belief that he was in danger of great bodily harm, regardless of whether his belief was reasonable. *Head*, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 124; Wis. Stat. § 940.01(2)(b). If proven, imperfect self-defense mitigates first-degree intentional homicide to second-degree intentional homicide. Wis. Stat. § 940.01(2)(b).

To obtain an instruction on perfect self-defense, the defendant must point to "some evidence" to show he held an objectively reasonable belief that the amount of force was necessary to prevent or terminate what he believed to be an unlawful interference with his person. Wis. Stat. § 939.48(1); *Head*, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 67. "In these circumstances," a defendant "has to meet the same 'some'-evidence standard, but [his] evidence would be measured against an objective reasonable threshold." *Head*, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 125.

If proven, perfect self-defense is a privilege to a homicide charge. Wis. Stat. § 939.45(2). "Once the defendant successfully raises an affirmative defense, the state is required to disprove the defense beyond a reasonable doubt." *Head*, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 106.

When applying the "some' evidence standard, the trial court must determine whether a reasonable construction of the evidence will support the defendant's theory 'viewed in the most favorable light it will 'reasonably admit from the standpoint of the accused." *Peters*, 258 Wis. 2d 148, ¶ 22. It is a "relatively low threshold." *Id.* ¶ 27 n.4. Evidence satisfies the standard even if "weak, insufficient, inconsistent, or of doubtful credibility." *State v. Stietz*, 2017 WI 58, ¶ 17, 375 Wis. 2d 572, 895 N.W.2d 796.

The "general rule" is that "a circuit court must *hear* an offer of proof to determine whether evidence would support a proffered defense before ruling on the relevancy of the evidence." *State v. Dundon*, 226 Wis. 2d 654, 674, 594 N.W.2d 780 (1999) (emphasis added).

# B. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion.

Johnson does not argue that the court here erred in excluding evidence but instead in requiring his testimony first. (Johnson's Br. 23–27.) The circuit court did not err, but ultimately, any error would be harmless; this Court may wish to start with harmless error, addressed in Section I.C., *infra*.

As an initial matter, Johnson does not make clear whether he is challenging the circuit court's rulings concerning admission of evidence of KM's past assaultive history *and* its ruling concerning KM's possession of child pornography years-earlier, or just the former. He simply asserts that the court's "pretrial orders" limited evidence that he "acted in self-defense when he shot KM." (Johnson's Br. 23–28.) Because the circuit court analyzed the two types of evidence (past violent history and past possession of child pornography) separately, the State does the same here.<sup>5</sup>

> 1. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion concerning evidence of the victim's past acts of, or reputation for, assault, bullying, or other violence.

Here, the question is: did the circuit court err by holding that Johnson should have to establish a factual basis for selfdefense through his own testimony before allowing other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Johnson also makes no argument that the court erred in excluding all evidence of KM making Johnson's younger sister feel "creepy," of verbal abuse towards KM's son, and of reputation evidence that KM was "self-absorbed or domineering or unkind or selfish or a bad father." (R.211:7–9.) He has therefore abandoned any claim of error in these holdings. A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins. Cos., 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998) ("an issue raised in the trial court, but not raised on appeal, is deemed abandoned").

evidence about KM's alleged character and history of assault and bullying behavior?

The court did not erroneously exercise its discretion. In short: (1) the *only* way any evidence concerning KM's history of or reputation for violence would become relevant would be if Johnson advanced a self-defense theory; and (2) the *only* way Johnson could support such a self-defense theory would be through his own testimony.

First, absent a claim of self-defense, KM's character of past violence would not be a "pertinent" character trait, Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1)(b), and specific instances of his conduct would not be "essential" to a "charge, claim, or defense." Wis. Stat. § 904.05(2). The evidence would not be *McMorris* evidence absent the "issue of self-defense." *McMorris*, 58 Wis. 2d at 152. Johnson makes no argument that any of it would have been relevant or admissible absent the question of self-defense. (*See* Johnson's Br. 23–27.)

Second, the court properly recognized that the evidentiary support for Johnson's self-defense claims had to come through Johnson's testimony. It was "undisputed" that he and KM were alone downstairs in KM's home when he shot KM. (R.211:6.) The "some evidence" standard may be a low threshold, but it still required *some* evidence. *Head*, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶ 125. Johnson was the only witness who could attest to KM purportedly attacking him that night.

Thus, the court did not erroneously exercise its broad discretion to decide whether and how evidence may be presented by concluding that it *would* allow character evidence about KM's reputation of and history for violence, but only after Johnson established a basis for self-defense through his testimony.

Johnson's arguments to the contrary fail. First, though not entirely clear, Johnson appears to argue that his nontestimonial written offer-of-proof assertions through counsel were sufficient to satisfy the "some evidence" standard. (Johnson's Br. 23–24.) This, however, would go against the "general rule" that a circuit court must *hear* an offer of proof to support a proffered defense. *Dundon*, 226 Wis. 2d at 674.

The cases he relies on do not support the idea that his written pretrial assertions through counsel were sufficient to constitute "some evidence." (See Johnson's Br. 24–25.) Stietz concerned whether the court erred in not instructing the jury on self-defense following the defendant's testimony at trial. Stietz, 375 Wis. 2d 572, ¶¶ 12–60. So did Coleman. State v. Coleman, 206 Wis. 2d 199, 205–16, 556 N.W.2d 701 (1996) (review of circuit court's decision denying self-defense instruction following defendant's trial testimony).

Johnson argues that "[n]o Wisconsin case has ever required the defendant to testify before offering evidence in support of his defense." (Johnson's Br. 24.) He, however, overlooks that *he* must show that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion by requiring him to do so here. *McAllister*, 74 Wis. 2d at 251. The court did not err where here—there would have been no way for Johnson to establish some evidence of self-defense without his own testimony.

Johnson has not and still does not explain how he could have produced sufficient evidence of self-defense without his testimony. He broadly asserts that self-defense "can be established, at least preliminarily, through questioning of witnesses." (Johnson's Br. 26.) He also broadly asserts that other witnesses "may have [had] information pertaining" to self-defense. (Johnson's Br. 26.)

But he offers nothing specific to show how he could have possibly mounted a viable self-defense claim without his testimony. And though a defendant advancing *McMorris* evidence may "produce supporting evidence to prove the reality of the particular acts of which he claims knowledge," *McAllister*, 74 Wis. 2d at 250–51, that evidence cannot be admitted to show conformity—it only becomes relevant to support the *defendant*'s mind-state. *Id*.

Thus, as the circuit court recognized, without Johnson's testimony as to his mind-state, the questioning of other witnesses about KM's violent nature and history would have been irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial. (R.211:11.) *See also Lee v. Murphy*, 41 F.3d 311, 313 (7th Cir. 1994) (noting a Wisconsin defendant cannot assert either perfect or imperfect self-defense "unless he takes the stand and testifies").

Johnson argues, without support, that a review of "many Wisconsin cases" shows that "our courts regularly permit questioning of witnesses and the admission of evidence without first requiring the defendant to testify" in self-defense cases. (Johnson's Br. 27.) He cites examples of other selfdefense cases where "events" occur "out-of-view" from other witnesses, but those cases do not support his proposition.

In *Head*, for example, the court permitted the defendant to discuss her self-defense theory in opening, but delayed ruling on the admission of *McMorris* evidence; "[a]fter the State presented its case," the court allowed the defendant to testify to outside of the jury's presence, to make her offer of proof. *Head*, 255 Wis. 2d 194, ¶¶ 24–25. The Court concluded that the circuit court erred because the defendant's testimonial offer of proof was sufficient; notably, it did not hold that the court erred in delaying its ruling on the admission of *McMorris* evidence until after the defendant's testimony. *Id.* ¶¶ 130–42.

Johnson asserts that preventing him from crossexamining the State's witnesses about supporting evidence "unconstitutionally restricted" his right to cross-examination by "invit[ing] the jury to form opinions before all evidence was heard." (Johnson's Br. 24.) Johnson provides no support for this constitutional claim. *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 64647, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) (this Court need not address undeveloped arguments).

If Johnson were correct, the same could seemingly be said for a court not allowing defense witnesses to testify until the State completes its case-in-chief. Moreover, his argument overlooks that a court has broad discretion over the mode and order of witness-questioning and evidence presentation. Wis. Stat. § 906.11(1).

Johnson's claim that the court's order violated his rights against self-incrimination and to due process also fall short. Johnson rests his argument on *Brooks v. Tennessee*, 406 U.S. 605 (1972). (Johnson's Br. 25–27.) There, the Supreme Court considered a state statute requiring that a defendant testify as the first defense witness, or not at all. *Brooks*, 406 U.S. at 606. The statute was enacted to prevent other witnesses influencing the defendant's testimony. *Id.* at 607. The Court rightly deemed this an impermissibly heavy restriction on the defendant's right to remain silent. *Id.* at 610.

Neither *Brooks*, nor any of the other unrelated right-topresent-a-defense Supreme Court cases Johnson cites, (Johnson's Br. 27), stand for the proposition that where a defendant wishes to advance an *affirmative* defense dependent on his testimony, a court impermissibly violates his right to remain silent by holding that he cannot first present otherwise inadmissible evidence until he presents evidence supporting his defense. On the contrary, in *Chambers*, the Supreme Court held that, "[i]n the exercise" of a defendant's right to present witnesses in his own defense, "the accused, as is required of the State, must comply with established rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt and innocence." Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 302 (1973). Johnson fails to show that the court erroneously exercised its discretion.

2. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion concerning evidence of Johnson's alleged discovery of child pornography on the victim's computer years earlier.

Johnson does not advance any argument concerning the circuit court's ruling not allowing evidence to support Johnson's claimed discovered child pornography on KM's computer five to six years before he shot KM, until Johnson testified to that information. He asserts that the court limited evidence that he acted "in self-defense," (Johnson's Br. 23), and his alleged years-earlier discovery of child pornography on KM's computer was part of his written pretrial proffers, (R.15:1-2; 46:4-5.)

But, as the circuit court recognized, whether KM possessed child pornography years earlier "is not evidence of physical violence by the victim so this is not a self-defense or *McMorris* type of analysis." (R.211:14 (emphasis added).) By not advancing a specific argument, he has abandoned this challenge. *A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins. Cos.*, 222 Wis. 2d 475, 491, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998). Insofar as he raised it by simply asserting that the court erred in limiting his "self-defense" evidence, then he failed to develop it. *Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d at 646–47.

Should this Court nevertheless conclude that Johnson has satisfactorily advanced this argument, he fails to show that the court erred in only allowing admission of this evidence following his testimony, for the same reasons set forth in Section I.B.1, *supra*.

Johnson does not and cannot explain how evidence that he reported discovering child pornography on KM's computer years earlier could have had *any* relevance but-for his testimony connecting the child pornography to his actions and beliefs when he shot KM.

# C. Even if the court erred, any error is harmless.

"An erroneous evidentiary ruling is reversible only if 'a substantial right of the party is affected." *State v. Monahan*, 2018 WI 80, ¶ 33, 383 Wis. 2d 100, 913 N.W.2d 894 (citation omitted). The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have convicted absent the error. *Id.* 

First, as argued further below, the court properly concluded that Johnson was not entitled to an instruction on perfect self-defense. *See* Section III.B., *infra*.

Second, Johnson suffered no harm from the court's rulings concerning his imperfect self-defense claim. Imperfect self-defense only mitigates first-degree intentional homicide to second-degree intentional homicide, Wis. Stat. § 940.01(2)(b), and the jury *acquitted* him of both of those charges and convicted him of first-degree reckless homicide. (R.178; 223:3–4.)

But even further, we know any error was harmless because the jury *heard* the other evidence supporting his selfdefense claim, and it still convicted him. The court ultimately allowed Johnson to admit evidence of KM's history of and reputation for assaultive, violent behavior, and of Johnson's prior discovery of child pornography.

Moreover, there would have been no way for Johnson to prove self-defense absent his own testimony. Thus, any error in the court deeming his testimony a prerequisite to other evidence is harmless. Absent his testimony, the jury would have heard no explanation of what happened between him and KM that night, other than that KM was shot repeatedly, Johnson confessed to shooting him, and the gun used to kill KM and clothes with KM's blood on it were found where Johnson lived.

Lastly, any error in the court requiring the defense to recall any of the State's witnesses it wished to question about Johnson's self-defense claim, instead of questioning them on cross-examination, is also harmless. (*See* Johnson's Br. 24.) Again, the court permitted admission of the evidence. Moreover, the court instructed the jury to reach its decisions based on "the evidence offered and received at trial." (*See, e.g.,* R.222:43.) We presume jurors follow instructions. *State v. Truax*, 151 Wis. 2d 354, 362, 444 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1989).

## II. The circuit court did not erroneously exercise its discretion by prohibiting evidence of whether the victim's computer contained child pornography the night Johnson killed him.

## A. Legal principles

The legal principles concerning the admission of character, other-acts, and *McMorris* evidence, set forth in Section I.A., *supra*, also apply here.

# B. The circuit court properly prohibited the evidence.

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